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GILLESPIE, ARNOLD, Doctors for Assisted Dying Choice 

LAWLOR-SMITH, CAROLYN, Doctors for Assisted Dying Choice 

1  The CHAIRPERSON:  Good afternoon, professor and doctor. Welcome to this 
meeting. The parliament has given authority for this committee to hold public meetings. A transcript 
of your evidence today will be forwarded to you for examination for any clerical corrections. Should 
at any time during this meeting you wish to present confidential evidence, please let the committee 
know and we will consider that request. 

Parliamentary privilege is accorded to all evidence presented to a select committee; 
however, witnesses should be aware that privilege does not extend to statements made outside this 
meeting. All persons, including members of the media (of which there are none here at the moment) 
are reminded that the same rules apply as in the reporting of parliament. Before we get started and 
I introduce the committee members to you, I would like to acknowledge that we meet today on the 
traditional lands of the Kaurna people and respect their spiritual relationship with the country. 

On my left, closest to you, is Sam Duluk, lower house member. Next to him is Mark 
Parnell. On my right is David Basham, a lower house member, and I am Kyam Maher, an upper 
house member. So there are two upper house and two lower house members here today. I will leave 
it in your hands as to how you do it. Do you have a statement or thoughts that you want to present 
before we get into any questions? 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  It would probably be helpful if you had a minuscule background 
from each of us, and I will be ungentlemanly and start first. Relevant to this committee, I have been 
an associate professor in the department of obstetrics and gynaecology at the University of Adelaide. 
I was appointed there about 30 years ago. Even more relevant, for 20 years I was head of the 
gynaecology department at the Royal Adelaide Hospital. Of course, the Royal Adelaide Hospital was 
the referral centre for a lot of gynaecological cancer, so I saw a lot of sick people during that time. 
Dr Carolyn can introduce herself rather than me going through it. 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  I have been a GP for 35 years. As a GP, I have been involved 
in whole-of-life care, including a lot of palliative care as a doctor, as a daughter and also as a mother. 
I have seen good palliative care, I have seen palliative care that hasn't been able to control all the 
symptoms and I have also been involved in counselling after people have died and also after suicides 
related to terminal illness. So I feel I have quite an extensive knowledge on both sides, as a carer 
and as a doctor in palliative care and dying. 

2  The CHAIRPERSON:  Would you like to offer some thoughts to the committee about 
your views on the terms of reference? 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  We are here representing Doctors for Assisted Dying Choice. I 
think the best thing I can do is read from our web page: 

We are a national organisation of Australian medical practitioners, committed to attaining a legal 
choice for rational adults with intolerable suffering, for which there is no realistic chance of cure or relief, who wish to 
end their lives at a time of their choosing and in the presence of those whom they choose. Assistance may be by 
doctor prescription of medication for personal consumption, or by doctor administration. 
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We are a national group, as I have said. We have an informal relationship with a similar group in 
New Zealand. We have committees in each of the Australian states who organise activities within 
each of those states, and we have an online meeting with a member from each one of those states 
about every two weeks to help each other and to work through what's happening throughout 
Australia. That's where we are. 

3  The CHAIRPERSON:  I might ask a couple of questions. I think members of the 
committee will have questions as well and some will be similar. Obviously we know your stance from 
the name of your organisation, but do you have a view about a model of voluntary assisted dying 
that, in your personal view or in your organisation's view, is best practice? 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  A model view? Essentially, I believe that we need a legal choice 
for assisted dying. I believe that there has been a considerably emotional approach to this subject, 
as you would well know, disproportionate to what actually happens in medical practice where people 
just do die. 

I believe that the Victorian model, which we are all familiar with, is cumbersome. It 
makes a very sick person go through an enormous number of steps. They have to satisfy I think 
64 different steps. These are terminally ill people who are suffering and we delay what they ultimately 
want because of our attitudes, I suppose, to death and dying. I believe the Western Australian group, 
with their inquiry, has done very well. They will produce recommendations which I think will be much 
more in line with what's needed. In summary, it needs to be effective but it doesn't need to be so 
cumbersome as it is at the present stage in the other possible states. 

4  Mr DULUK:  Professor Gillespie, in terms of other models, you mentioned WA. What 
about international models in terms of a model that is more user-friendly, for want of a better word, 
whether it be Oregon or the Netherlands? 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  As you would know, Oregon has been the basis for the majority 
of assisted dying laws throughout Europe and in many, many states in the USA. It is a very good 
model, yes—definitely a good model. From memory, I think there are about five or six pages of the 
law as opposed to the Victorian model, which is 50 or 60-odd pages of complicated steps that the 
patient has to step through. 

5  The CHAIRPERSON:  This is, I guess, for both of you to answer. In your professional 
experience, how frequently in the end stages of a painful illness would patients seek to use voluntary 
euthanasia, do you think? 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  I will pass that one on to Carolyn because my practice has been 
very much a hospital-based practice whereas the vast amount of end-of-life care is carried out by 
general practitioners. 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  It is certainly very frequently that people say they would like it 
to be faster and they would like to go soon. Certainly, nurses, doctors in hospitals and GPs get asked 
whether we can do anything to help them. That's very common. If they have good palliative care and 
they are able to manage their pain and the other problems that they often get, that doesn't seem to 
be a problem. 

Sadly, it does take quite a long time for people to die. It can take up to three weeks 
or so with ordinary palliative care to die, and it's very stressful for the person themselves and also for 
the carers as well. A lot of people have quite horrible post-traumatic stress from going through it. We 
certainly haven't got the knowledge of looking after people. We don't know about death in our society 
anymore, which is quite sad, even in palliative care units. 

In my practice I had a doctor that left general practice to work in palliative care, and 
she is now a palliative care specialist, and she talked to me about people that are actually detained: 
they are in palliative care, and they want to kill themselves, and they have had a detention order put 
on them because they want to kill themselves, which I thought was a very odd thing to do. 

I personally have had quite a few people that have gone off and committed suicide. 
I had one lady that was about 65. She had breast cancer and was clear for 15 years, and when it 
came back, it came back under her arm and wrapped itself around the nerves under her arm so her 
right arm was paralysed, and she was in really severe pain, neuropathic pain—nerve pain—which 
was hard to control. 
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She had been through it with her other relatives. She had been through seeing 
someone die in palliative care with ovarian cancer. I was looking after her. She was also being looked 
after by the Repat. She mortgaged her house. She did a reverse mortgage, went to Mexico and got 
the drug, came back and she told her family that she was going to take it. She told me, and I actually 
got her to see the psychiatrist in palliative care and also the acute crisis intervention service because 
I would need to be reassured that I was doing the right thing. 

I was actually told by the palliative care people that I should insist on her giving me 
the medicine, the drug that she got, and that I should control her drugs so that she only had so many 
days of pills and make her pick them up from the chemist. When the acute crisis intervention service 
saw her they said that she was not detainable; she was not depressed—she was sad, but she wasn't 
depressed—and they couldn't see any reason why she should be detained. 

So I had a phone call one morning, and the palliative care person had gone round 
and there was a sign on the door to say that she had killed herself. They broke in. She had waited 
until her daughter had gone out to work and taken the drug and was dead. 

I also quite commonly have had people that have finished having their chemo; there 
is nothing left—they have had their chemo and there is nothing more that can be done—and they 
have chosen to take their life instead of being admitted to hospital or being looked after at home. I 
had a lady that walked in on her husband; he was in the garage. He had encouraged her to go out 
shopping. When she came home he was hanging by his neck in the garage, dead. I had a man that 
came home and his wife had taken an overdose of pills and alcohol and put a bag over her head, 
and she was found dead from aspiration. 

We have some very horrible ways of committing suicide. It is quite difficult to commit 
suicide. If you read some of the information from Dignitas, they actually try to prevent people 
committing suicide. Often people have failed many times, because it can be quite a difficult thing to 
do, but these people are desperate. So it is extremely upsetting for us as GPs but all the carers as 
well. 

My father died 25 years ago. He had secondaries in his liver from somewhere; we 
didn't know where it was. He was at Flinders for a week before he went to Daw Park. He was receiving 
good care, but he was confused, he was hallucinating. He had been to the war; he was seeing things 
on the wall. I was 34 weeks pregnant and I wanted to stay with him when he had just gone into 
palliative care, and my brother-in-law ended up staying with him, but my father actually stood up—
he had somehow or other got the energy; I'm not sure how—and he was really, really angry, and he 
swore at me and hit me and tried to push me over. 

That was six hours before he died. Now, even though you logically say to yourself, 
'This is the illness. This is the drugs that is doing this to him,' it was extremely stressful. I ended up 
seeking psychiatric help because I actually got depressed and had to have—you can say to yourself, 
'This isn't my dad,' but you are heavily pregnant, he's not going to be there to see his granddaughter 
and he's hit you. He is in a really good palliative care place. 

My mum died in a nursing home and we had a GP that looked after her, and it was 
lovely. She had end-stage lung disease; she was 78. We organised another palliative care nurse so 
that we could have extra help. She'd had the morphine put in with midazolam because she was very 
short of breath, so the midazolam was stopping her from being worried. The last day before she died, 
we were sitting there with her—the three daughters—and we were drinking champagne with a straw. 
She liked having those—you know those little flowers that you can have that make bubbles? We 
were watching TV—we were watching that horrible program in the afternoon, what is it? 

6  The CHAIRPERSON:  They are all horrible. 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  What's it called? The Bold and the Beautiful. Every now and 
then we would say something and she would open her eyes and laugh. The next day, she waited, of 
course, until they were washing her before she died, as a lot of people do. They don't like to die when 
their loved ones are there. We had been there for 48 hours and then they were washing her. But it 
was just beautiful. We chose for her to stay there until the following day—we didn't get the funeral 
director there straight away—and it was such a lovely, lovely thing. We could say goodbye. We could 
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sit there and talk to her and be part of that. When she was picked up, to actually be there while they 
were putting her on the gurney was just a lovely experience. 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  I wish they were all like that. The Victorian inquiry summed it up 
beautifully by saying: 

Some Victorians are dying terribly at the end of a terminal illness. They are spending the last days 
and weeks of their lives in pain which cannot be relieved. They are ready to die. They are determined to end their 
suffering. 

As Carolyn has just said. It continues: 
Some choose starvation or dehydration as their only option to end their life. These people want 

what we all want; a good death. Our current medical and legal system can provide this for most Victorians. But for 
some, it is out of reach.  

There was a similar result in Western Australia. Chapter 1—Introduction says, 'Profound suffering 
characterises too many Western Australian deaths.' 

7  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  Thank you for your evidence today. I want to get a bit 
more pedestrian, if I can, and talk about the role of doctors in any regime for voluntary euthanasia, 
or physician-assisted dying, or dying with dignity—whatever we want to talk about. The first port of 
call would appear to be the role of the doctor in helping to determine eligibility. That threshold 
question: is this person eligible? You have already talked about your organisation's view; we are 
talking about rational adults and their exercising free choice. That's the first thing. 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  Yes. 

8  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  Secondly, intolerable suffering, presumably as 
determined by them. It's not as if there's a pain-o-meter that you can get a number; it is that person's 
choice. The third thing: an incurable condition with, I think the words you used, 'no realistic chance 
of cure or relief'. When we have debated this topic in parliament before, I think there has often been 
a tendency for people who don't support law reform to interpose as many doctors as possible, as 
many second, third, fourth and fifth opinions as possible, with the view of making sure that very few 
people will become eligible. 

That does raise the question of how many doctors. Do they need to be doctors of a 
particular qualification? Should it include a person's treating GP, for example? Should it involve 
doctors who have never met the person before? Do you have to have psychiatrists involved at every 
stage? I figured that if this comes back to parliament again, one of the big debates will be: how many 
doctors and who are they? Is it a genuine safeguard or is it just a hurdle? 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  I would say you need one doctor, preferably the doctor who has 
been in care of that person for some time. That doctor understands all the interrelations between the 
person, his family, the effect of the disease and how that is going to pan out. I don't believe that in 
most cases you need a super specialist. A GP can tell when a patient is going to die. 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  I think that you need two doctors, mainly for the protection of 
the first doctor. I believe that we should, as GPs, be allowed to talk about all the different means of 
treatment and all the choices. People come to us and they want to kill themselves, so we talk about 
what is going to happen to their family if they do kill themselves, about their children feeling rejected, 
and all sorts of things. It's part of what we always do, so I was very disturbed to find that the Victorians 
say that we are not supposed to bring it up and that we are going to be fined if we bring it up. 

I think you need to discuss it; it's an option. People discuss it with us all the time and 
it can be discussed as related to all the other different ways you can die: you can die at home, you 
can die in the hospital. We even talk about death things. We talk about cremation and burial, and 
natural burial. We talk about all those different things; they are what we talk about. I think we should 
be able to discuss it. 

I think the GP should be the normal GP. If the GP is a conscientious objector, they 
should have to refer within a short time to someone who isn't. They need a training program, as they 
do in Victoria, and then it should be another GP. We are all the time looking at whether people are 
competent to make decisions. We are doing driver's medicals. We are giving relations advice about 
wills and power of attorney and all sorts of things. I don't think that it's a problem, but if there is any 
suggestion that the person is psychiatrically disturbed, they need to see a psychiatrist as well. 
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9  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  Just to follow that up, whilst I have never been in this 
position, I can imagine that, if I was suffering intolerably from an incurable condition, I am likely not 
to be that joyful. You are probably got to be pretty sad, but being sad is not the same as having 
clinical depression. 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  You can tell the difference. There's a big difference between 
sad and depressed. 

10  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  That then goes on to where some people have said, 
'Well, in every case, therefore, you must have independent psychiatric evidence.' Is there an 
argument for that? 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  It takes too long. It's too burdensome for people. Then you 
have three people you have to find for that person: their normal GP, another GP and a psychiatrist 
as well. I also don't think we need to get the licence from the state. In Victoria, is it the state secretary? 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  Yes. 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  It goes to somewhere else to get the licence. I don't know how 
many months or how much time this is going to take. How do we get all the bits of information 
between each other? Are we going to use faxes? Are we going to post them? The post in South 
Australia is pretty terrible. We haven't got any encrypted way of sending them at the moment. We 
can't send emails because they are not encrypted. We are not allowed to send email as GPs. That 
also needs to be sorted. If we are sending documents between all these different organisations, that 
all needs to be sorted as well. 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  It is presupposing that someone who is depressed, if you like, as 
a result of crippling disease can't make a rational decision. I believe they can. 

11  Mr DULUK:  You believe they can, Professor Gillespie? 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  Yes. 

12  Mr DULUK:  You believe they can? 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  Yes. 

13  Mr DULUK:  Could you explain, for the benefit of the committee, that sort of thinking? 
In a lot of the literature, and certainly in a lot of the legislation, you have to be of 'sound mind', however 
that is defined by parliament 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  Correct. I did not mean to say, if I did, that being depressed as a 
result of getting up in the morning feeling sick, knowing you are going to have another day of pain 
that cannot be relieved, even though the doctor is giving you heavy drugs, is clinical depression; that 
is reacting to the situation, and that does not mean that they can't still make a rational choice. 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  It's not just pain. It's people who have bowel obstructions that 
can't be relieved. If you're vomiting up poop, or you have ascites, your tummy is full, and your liver 
is failing and you're yellow, and then you get an infection. I have had people with several different 
holes with all sorts of infected stuff coming out of their abdomen. When someone's at home or when 
they are not at home, you have to move them every two to four hours otherwise they get bedsores, 
so you have to move them all the time. They are incontinent. You have that to sort out and their 
mouth care. They are sweating. It's very difficult. 

As a mother, my daughter died three years ago, next week. She died at 27. She had 
a condition that we didn't know we were carriers for. It was a bit like motor neurone disease, a very 
slow form of motor neurone disease called hereditary spastic paraplegia type 11. She was normal at 
14. She started having trouble walking. By 20 she was in a wheelchair, and then she ended up having 
trouble swallowing and breathing and had dementia as well. She got aspiration pneumonia. 

This happened very quickly. She had a cough on the Wednesday. We took her to 
hospital. She had pneumonia. We had a terrible time at Ashford. It was just awful. We have actually 
put in a complaint to AHPRA about the person who looked after us. My daughter wanted to go home. 
We took her home and we had amazing palliative care. I was able to get my other two children, one 
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from New South Wales and one from Melbourne, and she died on Sunday night in her home, and it 
was extremely lovely. 

My daughter could not have given consent. Nobody could give consent. There was 
no way that this sort of law is for anybody who can't give consent. It's not for that. Just to explain, I 
have had quite a bit of experience to do with disability as well. My son has the same condition. He is 
also going to be dying in the next year or so. He has just turned 28. 

I have that knowledge that this is not for these people. It's not for people with 
disabilities. They can't make those decisions. It's only for people who can make a rational decision. 
My daughter couldn't understand what death was. Of course, young children can't understand what 
death is until much later than age seven, so this is for adults making rational decisions— 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  Rational. 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  —knowing it's permanent, you're not coming back and 
knowing what end of life is like. There are so many of us in our society who don't even know what 
it's like. Most of us, something like 64 per cent of us, are going to die in hospital and only about 
15 per cent at home. 

What happens? You try to talk to people about end of life. I said to a 90-year-old 
man, 'Do you want to be resuscitated?' He said, 'Of course I want to be resuscitated.' I said, 'Why is 
that?' 'I want to reach my 100th birthday,' he said. 'Do you have a will?' 'No, I don't have a will. I'm not 
dying yet.' 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  Yes, we don't face these things. 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  They don't know about what it's like—what it's like to be 
resuscitated, to have someone jumping up on your chest to break ribs, to put a hole in someone's 
spleen, having pipes put down in your chest, to be artificially fed, to be tied down in an intensive care 
bed. We have so much to educate the public on. I think this is really important, but many people have 
never actually seen anybody die. 

If you are actually making a decision about death and euthanasia and voluntarily 
assisted dying, if you have no experience at all of being with someone when they die, I think it's a 
very difficult thing to actually vote on, really. You might know what it's like, but it's not like in the books 
or the fantasy of what people may imagine. When you ask people, they say, 'I want to die in my bed.' 
That's what they want to do, and they think it's really common. It is extremely uncommon to die in 
the middle of the night in your bed—very rare—but that's what they want to do. 

14  Mr BASHAM:  I have a question following on from something you said before in 
relation to doctors who don't want to be involved in euthanasia. You said that you would like it to be 
mandatory for them to refer on to another doctor. I guess my concern is that that is then forcing them 
into the process. Do you not think it could be possible that the patient could seek their alternate 
doctor rather than forcing a doctor to actually make a commitment? 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  You need to remember that we are talking about extremely ill 
people who often may have difficulty even getting through the day. To go doctor shopping is an 
unreasonable imposition. 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  Even if they had a phone number; it doesn't have to be to say, 
'You go and see Dr Smith,' but just having a phone number of the organisation. I know that in our 
practice we had a registrar who wouldn't prescribe the pill for anybody—unless they were married—
and also wouldn't refer people for termination. They didn't tell them that it was possible or where you 
got it. We had some very distressed people, because people feel judged or bad in some way, 
rejected. I imagine that if you are putting up too many barriers they would be feeling like it's the wrong 
thing to do. We all feel discomfort if somebody doesn't approve of what we are doing, I think it's— 

15  Mr BASHAM:  Isn't that the right of the doctor, to have that choice to not be part of 
the process? 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  Of course it is, but they need some easy way, like a phone 
number or a pamphlet you could give them, like you have with counselling for abortion. There is 
counselling for abortion where it's completely independent and not pushing, or whatever the word is; 
giving both sides and not coercing people one way or the other. I can't see why you can't have a 
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counselling organisation that talks to people about the different ways, in palliative care or at home; 
the different ways and who does it. 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  I think the doctor can have the right to not be involved, but I don't 
believe that gives that doctor the right not to care for the needs of his or her patient. It's not all that 
difficult, I would have thought, to involve some other doctor and absolve yourself from it but you still 
allow the patient his or her rights. Just as the doctor has rights, the patient has rights to get quality 
care. 

16  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  Again on the role of doctors, the first role is obviously 
around eligibility and then the next role is around if a person is eligible, what do they do. 

17  Mr DULUK:  Can I just jump in because— 

18  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  Is yours ahead of that? Okay. 

19  Mr DULUK:  We are sort of wrapping up on this topic. 

20  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  I will hold my thought. 

21  Mr DULUK:  Following on from Mr Basham, is there any other part of medicine where 
the requirement to provide a referral is stipulated? I'm thinking in, say, oncology, where you may give 
a diagnosis for treatment. When a patient leaves are you compelled to say, 'If you don't like this, here 
is my colleague Dr Carolyn who practices in a different area of oncology and who might have a 
different opinion for a line of treatment for cancer of some sort'? 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  Certainly; any patient has the right to seek advice from any other 
medical practitioner. 

22  Mr DULUK:  Is that something that the regime or the best practice of the Royal 
Society says, 'Professor Gillespie, if you prescribe a course of action to a patient along this route, 
you then provide the same information to a patient and say that if you don't like this, if you see my 
other colleagues, you may get a different opinion'? Is that something compelled? In terms of what 
Mr Basham is asking, the patient sees Dr Basham, who is a conscientious objector, and he says, 'I 
won't provide any more medical opinion, but if you see my colleague Professor Gillespie you may 
get a different opinion.' 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  Certainly. It is no problem whatsoever— 

23  Mr DULUK:  No, not that it's a problem, but in a mandated structure, because we are 
talking about a legal framework—as Mr Parnell was on about. We are saying that if a doctor chooses, 
if he is a conscious objector, they are compelled to provide an alternative opinion. That's what we 
are talking about here. Is there a comparable behaviour in other parts of medical advice? 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  No, because it would be the patient's choice to go and seek advice 
from somewhere else. I would have thought that any competent and reasonable doctor would not 
take any offence or difficulty in having a second opinion. Would you? 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  No, that's quite common. 

24  Mr DULUK:  No, I appreciate that it's common but it's not a mandated part of— 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  No, it's not mandated. You don't have to do it. 

25  Mr DULUK:  No, and nor do you, as a doctor, need to provide someone with—
another practitioner to seek a second opinion. 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  No, you certainly don't have to: it's not mandated, it's not 
necessary, but I think it comes within the realm of an appropriate thing to do. 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  If you didn't you would probably be reported to AHPRA and 
they would not look kindly on that. If someone came and said, 'I want a second opinion,' and you 
didn't refer them, that would not look good. If we refer someone to a specialist and they don't turn up 
we have to make sure that they turn up, or find out why they haven't turned up. Doctors have got into 
trouble because they have referred someone that was too far away. The person didn't turn up, they 
didn't check that they hadn't turned up and in court it was decided that it was the doctor's fault for not 
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following up and making sure that the person went. There are some odd things around about 
treatment. 

With oncology, the oncologists all get together so they all have the same treatment. 
They have meetings, they have international meetings, but what actually happens often is that people 
will seek alternative therapy. They might go and have their apricot kernel or their IV of vitamin C or 
something like that, which is not scientifically based, and they will seek those people out. There is no 
reason why we need to refer people to non-scientifically-based practitioners but we certainly need to 
refer, if we are asked, for a second opinion. 

26  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  There was a good interjection on that one because it 
makes sense. The other thing I was thinking is that you also have a positive obligation not to mislead 
people, so if you said, 'I don't like where this conversation is going; I'm not going to help you and 
no-one else will either because it's against the law,' and if in fact it wasn't against the law then that's 
a professional misconduct issue as well. 

There is obviously a spectrum between 'must refer, must hand a brochure over, must 
give a phone number'—that is at one end of the spectrum—and the other end of the spectrum is 
people just telling lies, which you don't want either, but within a framework of the right to 
conscientiously object, which is what you have said. 

My question was around the actual mechanics of the person dying. The two things 
that you have mentioned are doctor prescription and doctor administration. My recollection is that 
when we have debated these things in the past there was a lot of angst, I think, amongst some 
people for whom the simple prescription of a drug—a liquid, a tablet, an injection, whatever it might 
be—was not enough because they were physically incapable of taking that substance: they couldn't 
swallow it, they can't inject themselves, whatever it might be. 

Are they the only two real options: either the doctor does it or the doctor prescribes 
it for the patient to do themselves? That raises issues like, 'What about a family member, or a 
husband or a wife?' and whether that's something that needs to be written into law, that if the person 
can't administer the drug themselves then it must be a doctor who does it. 

Part of my reason for asking that question is that you hear anecdotally of people who 
have been prescribed drugs that will end their life but they die of natural causes before they take it. 
It is on the bedside table as a last resort, 'If things get too bad, I know I've got this and I can take it,' 
but in the end they end up dying without having taken it. There would obviously be nervousness 
around third parties intervening in that process as well. Do you have any observations on how that 
might work? 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  There is considerable evidence that the prescription of the drug 
is of great benefit to the suffering person, even without the patient taking it. I can't remember the 
exact figures but it's something in the order of 30 per cent of people in Oregon who have the 
prescription don't ever fill it but they get considerable contentment about knowing it's there if they 
need it. I do think that it has to be taken by the patient wherever possible, yes, because that's part of 
the choice: the patient chooses when to take the drug and with people there who he or she also 
chooses to be there. 

Does it have to be given by the doctor? I don't believe they have to be standing there 
and handing it for you to swallow, because that interferes with the whole ethos of the sort of death 
that we would like to see, where the person has his or her family and cared persons with them. I 
personally think that the case where the doctor has to give the administration can be, obviously, 
when the person can't do it himself or herself. It should be then done by the doctor, and that could 
be by physically handing it to the patient, but if they can't swallow then that is the situation when the 
doctor would need to give the drug intravenously. 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  At Dignitas, the drugs are not given by doctors at all. Dignitas 
is the organisation in Switzerland—the only one in the world—where you can go and not be a resident 
of Switzerland. There have been 32 Australians go to Dignitas since they opened in the last 10 years; 
five went there last year. It is quite an involved situation. They have to be assessed, they have a 
teleconference, but the people who do it are often nurses, but they either have an intravenous put in 
and the patient sets that going, or if someone can only just blow or puff, they can use that to actually 
turn it on. 
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They take it themselves—they film the person taking that—and then they call the 
police afterwards so that they look at all the different bits of paperwork of the people that they have 
seen. They go through again about the consent just before it happens as well. When they take it, 
they have to take it very quickly because you don't want to take half of it, go to sleep and wake up 
an hour later. They have a chaser, because it tastes disgusting, and they even practice taking it fast. 
There was a documentary on SBS just showing that a few years ago. 

Or they can use IV. I presume a nurse practitioner puts in the IV, but there is some 
way that the person themselves turns it on and not the actual practitioner. One of the problems, of 
course, with ascites and your bowel not working is it take four minutes when you have it IV—about 
four minutes or up to a hour—but it can be several hours if you have it orally and you have problems 
with your digestion and your kidney is not working and all sorts of other things are not working. 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  Then it is obviously the doctor who administers it. It is of interest 
that the expert committee in Western Australia has just, a couple of weeks ago, put in its 
recommendations, and one of the recommendations is that the patient can be consulted by a nurse 
practitioner who has had specific training, and in fact the nurse practitioner may be one who can 
administer— 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  And prescribe, because of course in Western Australia they 
have very remote areas where there aren't two doctors to see somebody. 

27  The CHAIRPERSON:  I am conscious that we are approaching the hour mark that 
was allotted. 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  Are we? I don't feel that we have given you very much, 
unfortunately. 

28  The CHAIRPERSON:  Doctor, you mentioned earlier that some patients without 
access to voluntary assisted dying make other choices: refusal of treatment or eventually they refuse 
food or water. In those circumstances, if a patient has made that decision that they have had 
enough—if voluntarily-assisted dying was available they would probably use that but, alternatively, 
because it is not available, they will refuse food or water—how many doctors have to sign off on that 
request from a patient? 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  That is their legal right. 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  That is their legal right—nobody. 

29  The CHAIRPERSON:  But that is, in effect, going to end that person's life, isn't it? 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  In about three weeks, yes, but it takes a very long time. 

30  The CHAIRPERSON:  I guess, in terms of what Mark was asking—and I think it has 
been a worthwhile discussion here—whatever the requirements or hurdles are, on the other side, if 
someone decides to do it as they have to do it in South Australia at the moment, is it their treating 
doctor? Who would a patient tell that they don't want any more food or water if they are in a hospital 
setting? Their treating doctor? 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  They would make their own decision to— 

31  The CHAIRPERSON:  They might still be in a position where they can make that 
without having any sort of advanced care directive. They might well be in a position where they can 
say to their doctor, 'Please stop giving me food. Please stop giving me water.' 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  It's a legal option to voluntarily cease all sorts of treatment 
knowing that you will probably die. Similarly, it's a legal option—there is no legality against it—
choosing not to eat or drink. You don't need any doctor's permission. Am I misunderstanding the 
question? 

32  The CHAIRPERSON:  No, that's the question. Typically, in that situation, would a 
doctor have to turn their mind to whether that person has the mental capacity to make that decision 
to refuse food and water? 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  You would think about it, yes. 
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33  The CHAIRPERSON:  In practice? 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  In practice, yes, you would, but you just write to say that the 
person has refused. I don't know whether there's any legal—you just write that the person refused. 
There have been some very famous cases where people have been forcibly put on ventilators and 
had feeding tubes put in because the parents want it or the relatives want it or something, and then 
there are legal cases. 

34  The CHAIRPERSON:  If we had more time, I would be keen to explore it. Maybe it's 
something I can ask you to take on notice if either of you, particularly you, doctor, felt inclined to 
perhaps jot down some thoughts for the benefit of the committee after this. You mentioned, when 
people commit suicide in lieu of having another option in South Australia, the sort of effects that has 
not just on their carers and loved ones but also on first responders or people who treat those people. 
Maybe if I can get you to take that on notice. 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  I actually rang the Coroner before this meeting to ask whether 
there were any statistics on how many people with a terminal illness are committing suicide, and they 
said they didn't know and they didn't know where it was. There were some ABS statistics from 2017. 
For people over 85, one in four of those who commit suicide has a terminal illness. 

35  The CHAIRPERSON:  I think the Coroner gave evidence in the Victorian— 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  In the Victorian, very much so. 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  It's 10 per cent; 7 to 10 per cent. 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  That's right, 10 per cent of people who suicide are in the terminal 
phase of some sort of illness and chronic pain. 

36  Mr DULUK:  Dr Lawlor-Smith, just as a general practitioner—and this is my 
observation of general practitioners in my community—end-of-life and palliative care seems to be 
underresourced and poorly trained. Why is it the case and what can society do to improve the 
practice? 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  It's a very complicated area. Home visits aren't paid well 
enough. We recently all got a letter from head office in Canberra saying we shouldn't prescribe 
opioids. We all got a letter saying, 'You're prescribing too many opioids.' 

The new generation of GPs don't like doing any after-hours. It's an extremely 
complicated thing. We have a lot more overseas trained doctors who are not used to doing 
after-hours. I had to get my brother-in-law to look after my daughter and I'm getting a doctor from 
Willunga looking after my son because there is nobody in the southern area that does home visits 
for palliative care, so it's extremely difficult. 

37  Mr DULUK:  A lot of it is good end-of-life treatment but it's something that more 
broadly needs to be addressed. It's a big lack on the part of our general practice at the moment in 
South Australia. 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  As I said, I don't know why but the new generation of GPs 
want to work part-time; they don't want to do any after-hours. 

38  The CHAIRPERSON:  Any further questions for our witnesses? One final one, 
quickly, to wrap up: how do you respond to those who say that as medical practitioners your first duty 
is to do no harm and that by allowing or helping someone with voluntary assisted dying you're doing 
them harm? 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  I don't think Carolyn or I would agree that assisting someone in a 
terminal illness in pain is doing harm. 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  You're relieving suffering. The person has made the choice 
and has gone through all the hoops to get to there. I don't see that there's a problem. 

Prof. GILLESPIE:  And refusing to help them is doing harm. 

Dr LAWLOR-SMITH:  It's cruel and horrible. 
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39  The CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you very much to both of you for attending today. This 
is a difficult subject, and I think we all are better informed. We have appreciated the heartfelt, personal 
information you shared with us. It is great and we appreciate it. As I said at the start, a copy of the 
transcript will be forwarded to both of you for any clerical errors or corrections. Thank you for 
appearing today. 

THE WITNESSES WITHDREW 
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WITNESS: 

HUNT, ROGER, Senior Consultant, Central Adelaide Palliative Care Service 

40  The CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you for joining us today, Dr Hunt. Welcome to this 
committee. The houses of parliament have given authority for the committee to hold public hearings. 
A transcript of your evidence today will be forwarded to you for your examination for any clerical 
corrections. Should you wish at any time to present confidential evidence to this committee, please 
indicate and we will consider that request. 

Parliamentary privilege is accorded to all evidence presented to a joint committee; 
however, witnesses should be aware that privilege does not extend to statements made outside this 
meeting. All persons, including members of the media, are reminded that the same rules apply as in 
the reporting of parliament. 

For your benefit, doctor, I will introduce the members who are here. Sam Duluk is on 
the end closest to you. Next to him is Mark Parnell. On the other side is David Basham, and my name 
is Kyam Maher. This is a joint committee of both houses of parliament. Doctor, would you like to 
introduce yourself and your experience? I see that we have a presentation to go through after that. 

Dr HUNT:  Thank you very much. I am really pleased to have this opportunity to be 
here today with you because it is really important work that you are doing for all South Australians. 
We are all bound to die at some point; all life is a sexually transmitted terminal condition, as has been 
said. But for those who are terminally ill now and in the near future, this is particularly important work 
that you are doing, so it's good to be here to have this opportunity with you. To introduce myself, 
there are several things up there. I will just highlight three of them. 

Firstly, I have been working in palliative care for 35 years, since 1984. When I came 
to this work, I had a clean slate. I didn't have any preconceived religious or ideological positions in 
relation to death and dying and the law around it. Over time, as I sat at the bedside and listened to 
my patients and the stories they had to tell me about their lives, their values, what they were 
experiencing as they were lying in the bed approaching their death—it's listening to those people that 
has been the foundation for developing my ideas in this area. To some extent, I want to be an 
advocate for their wishes and interests to you today. 

There is a quote—I am not sure where it actually comes from—'the dissatisfied dead 
cannot noise abroad the negligence they have [suffered]'. The real population here that this is about 
are gone. They can't say what they would have wanted. I have listened to them and I want to convey 
their views and wishes to you today. 

I was a former chair of what was called the South Australian Association for Hospice 
and Palliative Care; there has been a change of language from hospice to now just palliative. In the 
early 1990s, as a young doctor working in this area, I became chair of that organisation. During the 
period of being chair, the issue of death and dying was considered by the South Australian 
parliament. Jennifer Cashmore, the former minister for health, stood up and put a motion. Her first 
husband had died of cancer. And she realised that there was a problem in this area. 

She put a motion to the parliament to set up a select committee into death and dying 
to look at the problems and to address them. Don Hopgood chaired that committee. Hearings were 
heard upstairs in this building—I thought it might be held today in the same room. We are going back 
25 or more years. Don Hopgood chaired that committee and it was Martyn Evans who really had a 
big hand in drafting the legislation. 

I was really impressed by how the parliamentarians worked. Like many members of 
the public, before then, you have a sort of dim view of politics and politicians—I am sorry to say that, 
gentlemen and ladies—but I saw how these parliamentarians gathered the information together. 
They took the subject matter seriously, they worked hard, they got their heads around it, from all 
sides of politics, and they came up with some solutions to support palliative care and to develop the 
Consent to Medical Treatment and Palliative Care Act. It was the first time the words 'palliative care' 
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had appeared in an act of parliament in the world. It was a really progressive act in 1995 and we 
were the envy of other states of Australia and around the world. 

Where clinicians had problems with what was legal, what was not legal and who had 
what rights around end-of-life care, they were all clarified—well, not all of them, but to a large extent, 
the dilemmas and conundrums were clarified to some extent. That law—the Consent Act, I will call 
it—was designed to protect clinicians. The whole reason that committee was set up was because 
they thought clinicians were afraid to deliver good end-of-life care to relieve people suffering for fear 
that they might hasten death. The Consent Act was developed to protect the clinicians. 

The final dot point about my experience is more recent experience on the ministerial 
advisory panel, as it was called in Victoria. It was a seven-member panel chaired by Brian Owler, 
former president of the federal AMA, and that committee worked very hard in 2017 to advise the 
parliamentary lawmakers about what should be in the bill. That bill, of course, was passed in late 
2017: the Rights of the Terminally Ill Act in Victoria. 

This year, I have also been involved with the Western Australian Ministerial Expert 
panel, a 13-member panel chaired by Malcolm McCusker, who is a QC and former Governor in 
Western Australia. Our report was released a couple of weeks ago and a bill should appear in the 
Western Australian parliament next month, in August. It has been really interesting to be a part of 
those committees. 

In this presentation, I really want to make the point that terminology is important. 
Voluntary assisted dying is vastly different to suicide. I don't like the word suicide being applied to 
voluntary assisted dying and I will explain why. I will talk about the Consent Act that has been 
designed to protect clinicians. It lacks safeguards for patients. Terminally ill patients continue to 
suffer. They will always suffer because dying is a very unpleasant business. Palliative care does not 
have all the answers to suffering.  

There are some patients who want the option of voluntary assisted dying, and I 
believe there is enough experience around the world now to show that voluntary assisted dying law 
can introduce a new, prudent standard of legislative oversight and protections so that a law can be 
compassionate as well as safe. It is possible to craft a law that fulfils those criteria.  

So, firstly, about terminology: voluntary assisted dying is not suicide. With voluntary 
assisted dying, the person who is dying has a terminal illness. They are already dying, whereas a 
person committing suicide is not otherwise dying. With voluntary assisted dying there is a medical 
pathway involving two medical assessments about the person's capacity, their illness, their 
prognosis, their suffering and their treatment options, and the person must have decision-making 
capacity throughout the process. The decision must be enduring—it is not an impulsive decision—
and it cannot be the result of a mental illness that is leading to that decision. 

Compare that to suicide, where there is no medical pathway of scrutiny, the decision 
is often impulsive, associated with mental illnesses like depression, schizophrenia, substance abuse, 
etc. With suicide, it is often done alone. There are botched attempts and violent attempts. Compare 
that to the death with voluntary assisted dying, which is peaceful, reliable, with the person surrounded 
by their loved ones. It is vastly different. 

Not surprisingly, there has been a study into the bereavement outcomes in voluntary 
assisted dying for family members, a study in Belgium, that compared people who had voluntary 
assisted dying to those who didn't and it looked at the bereavement outcomes for their relatives. The 
bereavement outcomes in relation to those who had assistance to die were actually better than 
people dying standard ‘natural’ deaths. 

With suicide, you have terrible bereavement outcomes because suicide deaths are 
unexpected, sudden, with often a lot of trauma involved for families. 

Of course, our community overwhelmingly wants voluntary assisted dying to be 
available for terminally ill people as a choice, whereas our community overwhelmingly wants to 
prevent suicide. There are a lot of organisations working towards suicide prevention. So the two 
types of deaths are vastly different. 

You will hear people use the word 'suicide' in relation to voluntary assisted dying. To 
conflate the two is wrong. They are two different kinds of dying—very different—but the conflation is 
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used as a tactic to stigmatise voluntary assisted dying and to denigrate law reform. Beware of that 
tactic, please. That inaccurate and misleading language should be rejected. It is counterproductive 
to two important discussions: one about voluntary assisted dying, and it is also counterproductive to 
suicide prevention. 

I don't know if you recognise this man, shown on the slide, a former parliamentarian 
Gordon Bruce. 

41  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  His painting hangs in the corridor of the upper house. 

Dr HUNT:  I met Gordon. He was the president of the Legislative Council here. I met 
him as a patient. He had retired from parliament and bought a caravan with his wife, Olive. They 
were going to tour around Australia. Unfortunately, not long after his retirement he was diagnosed 
with motor neurone disease. You are probably familiar with it—the illness where the body becomes 
increasingly weak. Eventually, swallowing and breathing can be affected. Gordon's breathing was 
certainly affected.  

You can see in the photo there that he is holding a mask attached to the ventilator. 
As he started to breathe in, it pushed air into his lungs. As he started to breathe out, it sucked the air 
out, because his own muscles of respiration couldn't do the work necessary. Gordon went public. He 
said, 'When I was a parliamentarian, I wish I had done something about this. When I'm ready to go, 
I want to die.' 

Gordon was lucky, in a way, that he had reliance on the ventilator - eventually he 
was using it all the time. He had the right to refuse that ventilator and he would die as a result. He 
could determine the time and circumstances of his death to some extent. A lot of people don't have 
that kind of choice when they're dying. 

Gordon was completely wheelchair and bed-bound. He said, 'I've reached the end 
point of my endurance.' As a palliative care doctor, if he's struggling with his breathing, I can set up 
a syringe driver with morphine to take the edge off the ‘air hunger’, and midazolam to relieve anxiety. 
I tried that, but it did nothing to improve his symptoms or quality of life. I visited his home one day 
and I knew, when I was leaving, he would be dead. He had asked me to remove the ventilator and 
that is what I was going to do. 

I put in an intravenous line, I gave him some morphine and midazolam as an 
injection, and he went off to sleep. I took the ventilator off and he became blue and a bit agitated. I 
put the ventilator back on to give him a bigger dose, took the ventilator off and he died. Olive, his 
wife, was holding one hand, and his daughter the other. He died more or less the way he wanted, in 
his own bed, at home, surrounded by the love of his family. 

I just want to make a point—the second dot point on the slide there—that under the 
Consent Act, we must withdraw life-sustaining measures if directed by a patient or their 
representative. Gordon was directing me to remove the ventilator, but the same thing could happen 
with dialysis. When people have kidney failure, then they'll die of their kidney failure. If somebody is 
being fed by a gastrostomy tube into the stomach and they say, 'No, I don't want anymore,' we have 
to stop. The list of withdrawals could be quite long. 

Looking at Gordon Bruce's case, it can look like voluntary assisted dying, in a way. 
It is kind of similar. The requested death occurs as the result of a clinician's act, but it is legal when 
my intention is stated, congruent with the Consent Act; to remove the unwanted ventilator and provide 
palliation of his breathlessness and distress. 

The clinician's intention is a subjective thing, and it may be ambiguous.For example, 
what about a clinician's wish to compassionately fulfil the person's wish to die? If you were to say, 
'My intention was to bring about the person's death,' you could be charged with the serious crime of 
murder. 

The safeguards in the Consent Act around this sort of thing are for the clinician. 
There are no safeguards for patients, or very little safeguards for patients. There are no two doctors 
involved, there are no witnessed written statements, there is no ensuring that the wish is enduring, 
no documentation. 
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Of all the safeguards, layer upon layer of safeguards that we are talking about with 
voluntary assisted dying, if the parliamentarians—you're a cautious bunch, and so you should be—
are really worried about abuse and coercion, why is it only about voluntary assisted dying? Why 
aren't you worried about it in other situations as well? If voluntary assisted dying was available for 
Gordon, it might have been possible just to leave him on the ventilator, give him a dose of lethal 
medication and he die without this mask going on and off and that period of agitation. That may have 
been kinder for Gordon. 

Now I want to think about palliative sedation, which is also in the Consent Act. In 
palliative care, we use opioids like morphine, and sedatives—a common one is midazolam, which is 
a bit like diazepam; it is a sedative/relaxant. Midazolam can go under the skin, though, and it is 
absorbed from under the skin. We put these medications into a syringe and put it onto a pump that 
pushes the plunger down slowly, so there is a constant infusion of medication. 

We provide sedative sedation when people have refractory symptoms, and suffering 
that is very difficult to control. This is a kind of last resort measure that we use to relieve suffering. It 
does reduce suffering by reducing consciousness. The general effect is to hasten dying. You may 
hear some people say, 'Oh, there's no evidence, however, that this treatment hastens dying.' All of 
the parliamentary and legal reports from around the world have assumed that it does hasten dying. 

My view, as a clinician, is that clinical reasoning indicates it hastens dying. The 
person is bed bound, their cough is suppressed, they can't communicate, they are unable to eat and 
drink, and we usually don't provide artificial hydration or nutrition at all. All these things contribute to 
the hastening of dying, but that duration of dying is uncertain. It can take minutes, sometimes it can 
take weeks, where a person is in a pharmacological oblivion, but they are lying there, fading away, 
becoming skeletal, perhaps rattling with their breathing. 

Their family may have a vigil by the bedside. They don't know when death is going 
to occur. It's not pleasant for family, and from the patient's point of view some people say, 'Why 
should I have to go through that?' Some people call it ‘slow euthanasia’ because it's a slow hastening 
of death. From a lot of people's point of view, they say, 'Why should I have to go through those days 
of lying there, petering out like that?' They would prefer a quick exit with dignity. 

This is the incidence of sedation for refractory symptoms, from a Textbook of 
Palliative Medicine. It's not that uncommon: 10 to 50 per cent of deaths in palliative care. It varies 
from place to place. Continuous sedation might be a little less frequent than this, but the use of 
sedation for refractory symptoms, is common. 

. In the Consent Act, to quote the act, there is: 
 no civil or criminal liability by administering treatment with the intention of relieving pain or 

distress even though an incidental effect of the treatment is to hasten the death of the patient. 

That is pretty unambiguous and it’s clear for people. When I am teaching or talking to clinicians, I 
say, 'The parliamentarians have given you the scope in your practice to relieve suffering of dying 
patients without fear of criminal or civil liability. You are expected to relieve suffering of the dying.' 

There are some provisos. I don't think you would call them safeguards. They are just 
sort of riders to that principle of double effect in the law. Those riders are that the treatment should 
be with consent, in good faith and without negligence in accordance with proper professional 
standards of palliative care. 

In terms of writing the death certificate, palative sedation does not constitute an 
intervening cause of death. To summarise about the Consent Act, it protects clinicians, enabling 
them to relieve suffering with confidence. It lacks the safeguards against abuse and coercion that 
are proposed for voluntary assisted dying. 

You will also hear, ‘Palliative care has the answers, so we don't need voluntary 
assisted dying,’ as if it's one or the other, either palliative care or voluntary assisted dying. That's a 
false dichotomy. Where voluntary assisted dying has been legalised, the two co-exist very well, and 
you want people to have first-class palliative care available to them before marching down the 
voluntary assisted dying track. 

In Oregon, for example, where voluntary assisted dying has been available for over 
20 years, the vast majority—around about 90 per cent—are receiving palliative care. There are many 
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palliative care clinicians in South Australia who support voluntary assisted dying, and the peak body 
for palliative care is neutral on law reform around voluntary assisted dying. 

The debate around voluntary assisted dying, I think, has some positive spin-offs for 
palliative care. The funding for palliative care services is likely to improve, because everybody 
becomes aware of the importance of palliative care. And conversations in public, in families and 
around kitchen tables about death and dying improve. ‘What would you like if you were suffering and 
dying? If you had a big stroke, what sort of care? What about advance care planning?’ The VAD 
debate is going to be a spark for conversations around these things. 

Does palliative care have all the answers to suffering? No. Unequivocally no. 
Patients of palliative care services do request a hastened death. About 5 to 10 per cent of patients 
will be asking their doctor, 'Can you speed it up?' A lot of people say, 'I've had enough. I just want it 
to hurry up. The sooner, the better.' That is very common. Actually requesting someone to help 
hasten death is about 5 to 10 per cent in patients receiving pallative care. 

All surveys of palliative patients from the best hospice units in the world show people 
have multiple concurrent symptoms. They are all suffering symptoms, physical symptoms, and 
psychologically as well.  

These are figures from Australian palliative care services collected by the Palliative 
Care Outcomes Collaboration from around Australia. 

In the last two to three days before death: pain—about one in five patients has 
moderate to severe pain. These are patients of palliative care services, I emphasise. One in five 
people has breathing problems that are moderate to severe. Fatigue is very common. At least one 
in four people has fatigue. They are dying. They are bed bound. They are all going to be weak and 
fatigued, but on this data it's a lot of people. That is just a few symptoms that are experienced. 

This slide shows Kerrie. She is a patient in The Queen Elizabeth Hospital as I am 
speaking. She is 50. She has ovarian cancer that's very advanced. She has a common but a very 
unfortunate complication of ovarian cancer; that is, a bowel obstruction. Anything that is ingested has 
nowhere to go, except it accumulates and is vomited back. You can see the vomit bag next to her 
there. 

She is going to die of malnutrition. She is not getting nutrition. She will get weaker 
and weaker over time, lose more and more weight. She will end up quite skeletal. Of course, she is 
going to get weak. Her prognosis may be one to three months. If she had hydration, it might keep 
her going a bit longer, but often people in this situation don't want the duration of their dying 
prolonged. Often they would want it to happen sooner rather than later. 

Kerrie would like to have the option of voluntary assisted dying. She wishes she 
could be in Victoria. It's going to be more and more difficult to explain to patients why they can have 
it in Victoria, but not in SA. Why can't we have it in South Australia? A lot of people just want it there 
as insurance. In Oregon, for example, about a third of people don't end up ever taking the medication, 
but it's there if the going gets really tough. They have some sense of control, and that is palliation in 
itself. They have got control over their dying, and it's there as insurance. 

I want to go through my conclusions now. Under the Consent Act, our current law in 
South Australia, clinicians are trusted to deal with life and death decisions without safeguards. I am 
not suggesting you should put in safeguards. You should trust clinicians is what I am saying, whether 
it's with the Consent Act or voluntary assisted dying. Clinicians have to be trusted. All this talk about 
'you can't trust doctors' or 'you can't trust families', well, if you really want to push that line, why aren't 
you pushing it with withdrawal of life-sustaining treatments, and with palliative sedation, where there 
are no safeguards? 

A new, prudent standard of legislative oversight is being proposed for voluntary 
assisted dying—oversight that doesn't occur with any other area of clinical decision-making—where 
a person must be shown to have decision-making capacity throughout the whole process, from the 
time they make a request right through to the end. They must make three formal requests. This is 
the Victorian and probably the Western Australian model as well. They must be assessed by two 
independent doctors who are experienced and qualified and who must undergo mandatory training. 
These doctors must determine voluntariness and absence of coercion. 



Page 18 Legislative Council Tuesday, 16 July 2019 

JOINT COMMITTEE ON END OF LIFE CHOICES 

Evidence from places like Oregon and the Netherlands shows it's not the vulnerable 
people who are having voluntary assisted dying, it's the people from privileged circumstances, the 
well-educated, the wealthy, the people who have been in control of their lives, the managing 
directors. They are the people who are seeking this. It's not the poor, uneducated people, as a rule. 

Regarding coercion, where voluntary assisted dying has been around for a long time 
there are reviews available, and coercion has been found to be exceptionally rare—exceptionally 
rare. Coercion is more common in the other direction, with family members saying, 'No, no, we don't 
want you to go yet,' that kind of coercion, because there is a lot of love. You will hear some people 
try to push a very negative view of human nature, but you see a lot of love in the room around people 
who are dying. 

Dying people suffer. Palliative care will never be able to relieve all that suffering, no 
matter how good it is, and there are many patients I see who want the option of voluntary assisted 
dying. I think compassionate and safe law is possible, and it is in your hands to help make a 
difference. I encourage you to do so. 

42  The CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you very much, Dr Hunt. That was a quite 
comprehensive presentation, and I think it was of great benefit. Your experience in interstate 
jurisdictions with the development of legislation and the schemes around it helps us a lot; it is 
extraordinarily helpful for this committee. I will now open to the committee for questions. 

43  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  Thank you, doctor, for that. Could you tell us a little bit 
about the assistance that is provided to patients to die in the current regime without any sort of law 
at all? Just as an example, the family is sitting around the dying person and the nurse says, 'See this 
over here? This is the morphine pump. Every time you hit the button, mum gets a dose. I'm going for 
a cup of tea now.' Then of course the family, seeing what distress their mum is in, they're pumping 
away. 

Whether death was 24 hours away and now it is 12, who knows, but it struck me that 
that is probably happening in every hospital, in every city of Australia, every day with no regulation 
at all—which was your rhetorical question, 'Why so many safeguards over voluntary assisted dying 
and not in other settings?' It seems that it is happening with physicians and clinicians involved every 
day around Australia, and no-one even knows about it except those who are by the bedside. Is that 
accurate? 

Dr HUNT:  In terms of pressing a pump, probably not. There is the patient-controlled 
analgesia that people get post-op, where they can hit the button and get a bit of a booster dose. In 
palliative care the pump is set to run over a 24-hour period and the nurse will come back the next 
day and recharge it. It is not one of those patient-controlled pumps. 

44  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  It was a long time ago, I should say. 

Dr HUNT:  There are situations, and when you were talking I was imagining the kind 
of situation where someone is dying at home and the family is given control of the medications to 
some extent, because if someone is in pain you want the patient to have an injection immediately. A 
little catheter is put under the skin with a bung on the end of it, and if somebody needs an extra dose 
the family can give that extra dose. It's been drawn up by the nurses and labelled: 'This one's for 
pain. This one's the midazolam to relax a person.' Family members give it. 

Sometimes I am aware of families giving drugs every hour, as often as they can, 
even though the person looks like they're lying peacefully. They think, 'Well, we don't want them to 
wake up and be in any distress at all. Give more, give the maximum, give as much as possible 
according to the orders.' The patient might not need it but they're getting it. The patient is getting it, 
because their loved ones don't want them to wake up; they perhaps do want them to die. That sort 
of thing does happen. 

These situations, I am sure, occur in nursing homes and in people's homes, perhaps 
not so much in hospitals. Certainly in hospitals, when I do consult rounds, you do give PRN orders 
for nurses to give medication if somebody is distressed. Sometimes I think they are not given enough; 
people do get agitated and nurses should be giving more. But I think, in the privacy of people's 
homes, perhaps GPs in nursing homes do certainly boost doses up. 

45  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  You said provided their intention is to relieve suffering— 
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Dr HUNT:  Yes. 

46  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  —then the act protects them. It might not protect a family 
member administering a drug but it would certainly protect a clinician. 

Dr HUNT:  Yes, indeed. 

47  Mr DULUK:  Thank you, Dr Hunt, and thank you for all the work you are doing in the 
palliative care sector. I have a few questions from the testimony we had from our previous witnesses. 
In terms of a safeguard, do you believe that there should be a two-doctor sign-off if we are going 
down a VAD framework? Certainly some of the evidence from the others was perhaps you only need 
one GP making a recommendation for VAD. 

Dr HUNT:  We are setting a new standard here. Withdrawal of treatment could be 
one doctor, administering palliative sedation can be one doctor, but if we are talking about voluntary 
assisted dying, we are introducing something new: what we're talking about is a new standard of 
prudent oversight of the decision-making. 

I think to have two doctors for this decision is reasonable: to look at the disease, to 
make sure that the person does have a terminal illness, to consider the prognosis—are they 
approaching their death?—to think about their suffering and what could be done about that 
suffering—what are the alternatives to voluntary assisted dying?—to think about palliative care and 
to explain the palliative care options to the person, and to assess capacity and voluntariness. All of 
these things are so important to check out, and to have two doctors I think is important  

48  Mr BASHAM:  Just on that, do the two doctors actually need to physically be with the 
patient or can it be through Skype or a videoconference type of scenario? 

Dr HUNT:  Two independent medical assessments is what is being talked about. 
There is more and more telehealth happening, and our own service is getting involved with that as 
it's particularly helpful for patients in the country because palliative care patients can't easily travel. 
It's very useful for many types of medical situations. If there are two doctors involved, it would have 
to be at least one being physically present with patient. 

Could a second consultation occur through telehealth? I'm not sure. We do a lot of 
other things through telehealth. Could we make this sort of assessment and have this sort of 
discussion through telehealth? If you're thinking of patients in remote regions, in Western Australia 
they said a nurse practitioner could be the second person to consult. That was part of the reason 
that nurse practitioners were recommended in the report from the panel. 

Victoria was the first state and it was breaking ground, so it went for the most 
conservative model and erred on that side rather than looking at all the practical access things. It 
didn't even consider telehealth as an option. In thinking about the type of transactions that occur 
there with a patient, at least one of the consultations should have to be in person. 

There may be situations where a telehealth conference could suffice as a second 
consultation, but I would like to confer with colleagues and others and have more experience with 
telehealth to be confident of saying that. I am not saying that with confidence but it may be possible. 

49  Mr DULUK:  Do you think the requirement to have a terminal illness is one of the 
thresholds for VAD? 

Dr HUNT:  Yes, I do. 

50  Mr DULUK:  Certainly, in some of the submissions that we have received more 
broadly on this issue, there are many members of the community who just want the autonomy of 
VAD for them regardless of a terminal illness or the like, and there are certainly some in the medical 
profession who support that as well. What are some of the arguments about just a blanket VAD for 
a humane society to allow that independent will? 

Dr HUNT:  Yes, and in the European jurisdictions a person just has to have suffering, 
they don't have to have a short prognosis or anything like that. In America, there silent on suffering; 
it is just a six-month prognosis in the American states. Because I work with people who are dying 
and terminally ill, that is mainly the population I see, and I think certainly that population deserves 
the choice, warrants the choice. 
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I know there will be other situations that you will hear about that will sound very 
deserving—people suffering ongoing, suffering of all kinds every day of their lives, and wishing they 
could have a quick, peaceful exit. There will also be the people with Alzheimer's disease, who have 
lived all their life saying, 'If I end up with dementia, I don't want to be going on, please do something 
to end my life.' I know it might sound a little cruel, but it is not going to be for everybody. There will 
be people who won't receive the answer they want, but I think the most important population, from 
my experience, are the terminally ill people. 

51  Mr DULUK:  And a leader with that, just reading the 2018 Oregon report, for those 
requesting end of life, or VAD, only 25 per cent of people of 168 who exercised their right in Oregon 
used inadequate pain control or concern about it as their number one reason to access VAD. 

Dr HUNT:  Yes, pain is not the major reason in the European jurisdictions as well: it 
is loss of independence, inability to do what they have done all their lives, seeing that they are 
progressively getting sicker and sicker, fearing what might lay ahead of them and wanting some 
control over the manner of their dying and the timing of it. They have seen other people die, they 
say, 'I don't want to be lying in the bed rattling like that; I would rather die with my family around me 
before I reach that stage.' 

52  The CHAIRPERSON:  It occurred to me, with Sam asking the question about being 
near the end of life, you talked about a situation where, if a patient requests withdrawal of treatment, 
whether it be a ventilator or whatever else it is, a doctor must follow the patient's directions. What if 
that patient is not near the end of their life—maybe they had been in some sort of accident—and the 
prognosis is very good, that they would make a full recovery, but nonetheless they have asked for 
withdrawal of treatment, which the doctor knows almost certainly will end their life at that stage, 
notwithstanding that strong prognosis? What is the doctor's responsibility there? 

Dr HUNT:  The doctor's responsibility under the Consent Act is that the doctor must 
withdraw the ventilator if that is what the patient is saying. If a person has capacity to make that 
decision—they are not making the decision because of mental illness, depression or some other 
cause like that, if it is made voluntarily, without coercion and with full competence—then the doctor 
must do what the person requests, namely, cease the ventilator, even though they might live for a 
decade with the ventilator. 

53  The CHAIRPERSON:  Or even if the medical opinion is that that person will be 
coming off the ventilator, or whatever mechanism is keeping them alive, in the near future? If 
someone at that time—someone competent—makes the request, 'I don't want that anymore,' the 
doctor has to do that? 

Dr HUNT:  Has to do it—that is under the Consent Act now, as I understand it. 

54  The CHAIRPERSON:  I guess, in effect, at the moment people can choose to end 
their lives at a stage where they are not terminally ill by the withdrawal of treatment, without 
necessarily terminal illness or suffering, if that is what they want to do? 

Dr HUNT:  Yes; they don't necessarily have to be suffering. Whether they are 
terminally ill or not would depend on the definition to some extent. If they are needing medical 
apparatus, equipment like a ventilator, to keep them alive and without it they are going to die, are 
they terminally ill or not? I would argue that without the medical treatment they would be terminally 
ill. 

55  The CHAIRPERSON:  What's been introduced in Victoria, as you have explained it, 
is a more conservative framework, would you say in your opinion, than what we have now in terms 
of that withdrawal of treatment? 

Dr HUNT:  No. The withdrawal of treatment in Victoria, as I understand it, is similar 
to South Australia. 

56  The CHAIRPERSON:  But what's required for the new system in Victoria is a lot 
more hurdles and hoops and is much more conservative than what you have to do in South Australia 
to withdraw treatment at the moment, isn't it? 

Dr HUNT:  There's not many safeguards around the withdrawal of treatment. The 
Consent Act was designed to protect clinicians doing that sort of act. It wasn't designed to protect 
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the patient from abuse and coercion, so there are no safeguards there for the patient, particularly. It 
protects the clinician from liability. 

57  The CHAIRPERSON:  That was going to be my next question. You talked about 
coercion being very rare in voluntary assisted dying circumstances. Does a medical practitioner have 
to turn their mind to coercion for that withdrawal of treatment scenario? 

Dr HUNT:  I think you can trust doctors with the Consent Act provisions. I'm not 
arguing for any more safeguards. The point, sorry? 

58  The CHAIRPERSON:  Is coercion more likely? Could there be coercion for someone 
to withdraw treatment now which the doctor may be aware of? 

Dr HUNT:  Possibly. Yes, it could be. All of the scenarios that will be put before your 
committee about the dangers of voluntary assisted dying—you could imagine those same situations 
with family wanting the will, the money or wanting to empty a bed in the hospital—could be applied 
to the withdrawal of treatment and even provision of palliative sedation. 

59  The CHAIRPERSON:  In your opinion, would it be fair to say that it could be applied 
with greater force with the withdrawal of treatment or palliative sedation because you don't have the 
independent doctors? 

Dr HUNT:  Yes. You don't have all the safeguards that are proposed for voluntary 
assisted dying. 

60  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  I have one more question. It's obviously a very special 
calling, I think, to work in an area where you are helping people who are dying. You mentioned that 
the national peak body, Palliative Care Australia, was neutral on the issue. It says to me that there's 
people within your sector who are either supportive of voluntary assisted dying or they are against it. 
Clearly, you have put your position to us. There are people in the profession who don't support it. 
Can you tell us why you think that might be? Is it because it's seen as a failure and if they had more 
resources they could help people more? Why are they neutral? 

Dr HUNT:  There has been, traditionally, a very strong, politically correct line within 
palliative care against any reform around voluntary assisted dying for several reasons. The roots of 
the hospice movement came from religious quarters. The hospice movement grew in the United 
Kingdom outside of the fully funded public health system. It relied on charity. The hospices were all 
named after saints. Churches provided funding help. It was a new discipline that needed a place 
within medicine generally. Of course, they would not want to be associated with anything like 
euthanasia. 

A lot of religious ideals were held by the leaders of the modern hospice movement 
and they set up the rhetoric that has been followed down the track. I think there is also a belief that, 
'This is our turf. We're the experts here. We don't need others coming in telling us what to do' I used 
to hear a lot of rhetoric about, 'Nobody asks us for help to die,' but we know from surveys that people 
having palliative and hospice care are probably more likely than people not receiving palliative care 
to want a hastened death, in this quite well-designed survey from the UK showed that. 

To some extent, palliative care practitioners needed to promote their own skills and 
expertise. 'We can control suffering; nobody need experience suffering in our expert hands.' That 
sort of rhetoric has been promoted too much in all kinds of ways because people have the 
expectation that they are not going to suffer at all when they're dying. But, of course, they're going to 
suffer all kinds of symptoms, as I have explained to you. 

I think, in palliative care, there is also probably some conditioning to suffering. When 
we see somebody lying on the bed taking their last breaths—perhaps rattling sounds in the airways, 
gasping—to us, that's par for the course. That's how people die; that's okay. But family members are 
often horrified: 'This is awful, awful suffering.' 

There is conditioning to suffering, just as a surgeon is not going to faint when the 
scalpel goes across and the blood pours out but any one of us in there might feel a bit queasy. In 
palliative care, people get conditioned to the sort of suffering that people experience and tend to 
underrate the suffering that patients experience. 
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61  The CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you very much, Dr Hunt. That was a very 
comprehensive and informative presentation, and I think the committee has benefited greatly from 
hearing from you today. As I said at the start, a transcript of your evidence today will be forwarded 
to you for any clerical corrections. Thank you for your time today, it is much appreciated. 

Dr HUNT:  Thank you for listening. 

62  Mr DULUK:  I move that we table the presentation. 

Seconded by Hon. M.C. Parnell. 

Carried. 

THE WITNESS WITHDREW 
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WITNESS: 

CRAWFORD, GREGORY, Professor of Palliative Medicine, Discipline of Medicine, University of 
Adelaide 

63  The CHAIRPERSON:  Professor, thank you for being here today. It is very much 
appreciated. Welcome to the meeting. The houses of the South Australian parliament have given 
authority for this committee to hold public hearings. A transcript of your evidence today will be 
forwarded to you for any clerical corrections. 

Should you wish at any time during your evidence to the committee to present 
confidential evidence, please indicate to us and we will consider that request. Parliamentary privilege 
is accorded to all evidence presented to a joint committee; however, witnesses should be aware that 
privilege does not extend to statements made outside the meeting. All persons, including members 
of the media, are reminded that the same rules apply as in the reporting of parliament. 

Professor, I will introduce the members of this committee. On my left, closest to you, 
is Mr Sam Duluk. On my right, closest to you, is David Basham from the seat of Finniss. Next to Sam 
is Mark Parnell, and my name is Kyam. We are members of both the upper house and the lower 
house of the South Australian parliament, a joint committee looking at this issue. I invite you to 
introduce yourself and give an opening statement or an overview of your views and experience, then 
the committee will ask questions in a pretty informal way. 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  Thank you very much. I am really pleased to be here. I come 
with many hats, but they are all, I would think, fairly consistent. I am happy to explain some of those 
things. I come with 40 years of medical practice; 12 years in country general practice on Kangaroo 
Island, which I think is in the seat of Finniss—it used to be, anyway—and 23 years of full-time 
palliative medicine experience. Within that, I have had experience in all the palliative care services 
in Adelaide. I have visited country areas of South Australia as part of my clinical work. As part of my 
several roles, I have visited many palliative care services in Australia, New Zealand and the United 
Kingdom. 

I have a master's and a doctorate in the area of palliative medicine and my doctorate 
was about depression and terminal illness. I am really a clinician, an educator and a researcher. I 
work in a specialist palliative care service and currently I am providing direct home visits to people 
around the Modbury area. I am employed by Northern Adelaide Palliative Care Service, Northern 
Adelaide Local Health Network, but I am involved in clinical consultations and specialist inpatient unit 
care, so have hands-on experience of direct multidisciplinary palliative care. 

I coordinate the professionalism and the palliative care teaching in the 
undergraduate medical course at the University of Adelaide. The six years of that course is a whole 
lot of teaching to would-be doctors and a whole lot of education to junior doctors within the acute 
hospital system, and I supervise PhDs and other people in palliative care areas. It is a large lot of 
teaching. 

I chair one of the committees of the government-funded GP Palliative Shared Care 
program, trying to encourage not only education but increased palliative care service delivery by 
general practitioners in the community. My most recent research interest is an NHMRC grant about 
advanced care practice, so end-of-life conversations, in vulnerable populations—people in acute 
care, Australian Aborigines, culturally and linguistically diverse people—looking at how they interface 
with conversations about approaching death and how they might document it. I have equally 
published lots on psychological issues, depression and psychological issues for doctors working in 
palliative care. 

One of my current roles, besides clinician researcher, is that I am Chairman of 
Palliative Care South Australia, the peak body for palliative care in South Australia, which is 
responsible for the PEPA program, the education program for enhanced palliative care in all areas 
of clinical work. As I said, I am Chair of the GP Palliative Shared Care program. I am also currently 
the President of the Australasian Chapter of Palliative Medicine in the College of Physicians, the 
body that oversees the training of palliative care physicians, the continuing professional development 
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of palliative care physicians and education of GPs and other doctors who want advanced skills and 
qualifications in palliative care. I also chair a palliative care group in an international organisation, 
the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer society. You will see I'm an overinvolved, 
overachieving sort of person. 

I looked at your terms of reference and it seems to me that the major first point was 
about the current practices utilised within medical communities to assist people to exercise their 
preferences. My thoughts about that were that South Australia has been a pioneer in end-of-life 
legislation. The Consent to Medical Treatment and Palliative Care Act 1995 was the first time 
palliative care was mentioned in any legislation. It is excellent consent legislation and gave a 
framework for end-of-life care. 

It had some of the problems of any legislation with a bit of committee and a few 
misunderstandings that were really tidied up with the Advance Care Directives Act. But even then, 
you only last week changed or made a clarification around suicide and advance care directives and 
things like that. It is excellent legislation, it gives a great framework for end-of-life care and it gave 
some clarity about consent ages and some processes around those who didn't have capacity and 
those who had limited capacity. 

The issues around it are it needs ongoing education and it needs implementation 
and support that I don't think is strongly recognised or implemented in our system. In some of my 
research, it's very clear that even within the engaged and actively involved general practice 
population, they have lots of misunderstandings about our current Consent and Palliative Care Act 
and they don't actually understand the legislation and what safety and provisions it actually provides. 
But it's not only the health community; I would suggest that the whole of our community needs a 
much greater development of a program around death literacy and health literacy, and it could be 
framed around that legislation. 

The advance care directive component really tidied up two different legislations and 
has a really good framework. It came out of a national desire to have everybody speaking the same 
language—and none of us are. All the states have different legislation. But at least it created clarity, 
that if you were in another state and had your advance care directive with you it was binding in 
Victoria. it wasn't just a South Australian piece of legislation. 

We know there is very low uptake on the whole issue of that. I would suggest it is 
very white middle-class, higher socio-economic status stuff, that high basic literacy. I don't think it 
really has considered enough the vulnerable groups in our community. This research I have been 
involved with has shown that Australian Aborigines are really fearful of talking about death. We know 
that to engage in end of life for Australian Aborigines needs a lot of relationship building, and there 
is a lot of fear about white man's business. 

So there are some barriers there. Culturally and linguistically diverse people often 
don't have the same self-autonomous view about decision-making. Most Australians would say, 'It's 
my body; it's my right to choose, so I decide what happens,' but that doesn't happen in all 
communities. So there are some people on the vulnerable ends of our society that need to be 
considered. 

There is clearly no ongoing support in any material way about the advance care 
directive rollout, legislation and its use, even in local health networks, let alone in the whole of our 
community. Palliative Care SA is charged and we run a whole lot of education sessions around 
advance care directives, but it is not a thing that we have got crowds of people breaking their necks 
to come and see us about. 

That is my view about the actual legislation. The other part of what you asked was 
about: how is palliative care currently experienced in our community? So I went looking at the 
literature to see: what do people want at the end of life? That was my first thought, about what people 
want at the end of life. The literature talks about good symptom control, clear decision-making, some 
sense of preparation, a sense of having made a difference in your life and that they want to be 
affirmed as whole people. That was back in 2000. 

More recently, there is a whole lot around wanting to understand what is happening 
to them, good knowledge, to be as normal as possible, and in my clinical practice I see many people 
who just want to do normal things. They don't want to do the big overseas trip; they want to keep 
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doing the normal life, to try, I think, to put some framework—when everything else feels like chaos, 
you want to try to keep something that is reasonable and normal. 

There is other literature that talks about pain and breathing, dignity, peace with dying, 
avoiding being a strain on loved ones, control over the situation. Certainly there is literature that says 
that some people, and we know our society, want to have the means to hasten their death as well. It 
made me think as well: what is the essence of what I do as a palliative care physician when I'm sitting 
with somebody? What am I trying to do? 

I think we work in multidisciplinary teams. We have a definition from WHO. Any 
writing of a definition gives some framework, but by its nature is going to be flawed to some degree. 
It talks about the patient and family; it talks about symptom control; it talks about the full aspect of a 
person, physical, emotional, social, spiritual; and then, within those definitions, it talks about the 
intention neither to hasten nor shorten life, affirming life and seeing death as a normal part of living. 
You know, pretty reasonable things. 

I think that what I do for people is I see that you are trying to provide a safe place, 
that you are trying to help people balance that hope and realism dialogue. We all have hopes for 
something, and we see that even when faced with the potential or the reality that death is coming 
most people want to hope for something, want to plan for something. It is a matter of trying to provide 
the right, safe decision-making in that place. 

People always want good symptom control, and how can you think about the 
meaning of your life if you are throwing up or you have uncontrolled pain? 

Most people want to have some sense of, 'What has been the meaning of my life?' as well, and many 
people have concern about whether their loved ones will be okay afterwards and what's going to 
happen for them. 

That left me thinking about: well, how is palliative care constructed in South Australia 
and are people getting what they need? I think the short answer to that is: it's patchy; it is not 
adequate. If you get referred to a specialist palliative care service, you are likely to get good to 
excellent symptom control. It depends on what is wrong with you, of course, and where you might 
live. It varies between rural/remote and metropolitan areas as to what sort of services you might be 
able to access. 

If you are referred to a specialist palliative care service, you are more likely to die, or 
be cared for and potentially die, in the site of your preferred place. All of our specialist palliative care 
services in Adelaide probably have home death rates of somewhere between 40 to 50 per cent, if 
we pull out those who are in the community and want to die at home. 

To actually even have the conversation about where you want to die presupposes a 
level of health literacy and ability to talk about those issues. We look after a lot of people who don't 
really want to talk about that all the time, even though they need what we offer. We see people who 
are making all the right moves to acknowledge their life is ending—sorting out their affairs and doing 
those things—but they might not be actively talking about, 'I know it's coming.' It is quite variable. 

Our community services in South Australia have become much more difficult. Some 
of that is between local health network dispersal of funds that are sent to them, about metrics for 
trying to work out funding that use activity-based funding and top-up funds, so it is quite complex. 
Some of those are built around outpatient programs rather than home visiting programs. Then of 
course there is the state and commonwealth divide. My Aged Care and over-65s provide some 
systems that our services try to squeeze our patients into. 

There are some SA Health programs that will help the acutely dying or relatively 
short-term dying, but our nurses coordinating those processes have to determine prognosis and try 
to fit them into programs. If you are under 65, then it is much harder to get services, equipment and 
the supports around people. Our palliative care services probably support equal numbers of people 
older and younger than 65, although the average age overall is old. 

There are barriers to referral. Some of those are health literacy and funding, and 
many are still missing out. Equally, we know that the non-cancer people are missing out. Although 
our palliative care services now—most of them would have 20 per cent non-cancer and 80 per cent 
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cancer referrals, many of those people don't see themselves as dying. They don't come along saying, 
'I've got a terminal illness,' even if they have been told they have heart failure or lung failure. It sort 
of doesn't all quite click together. 

I suppose my thesis is that, regardless of what you decide about voluntary assisted 
dying, we need a properly constructed, fully resourced palliative care service. That means that people 
who want to use that and who know about it, it's easy to access, it makes a difference. Despite lots 
of endeavours, there are still lots of gaps in our service and in our society. The other big place is 
residential care facilities. We know that they have become the slow-stream hospices of our society. 
They are the place where, increasingly, people are dying, and there are certainly gaps in staffing 
levels, knowledge base, access to medications and access to good medical advice in hours and after 
hours. 

The other thing that I think is important in terms of palliative care, and I suppose it 
has implications in thinking about whether you add extra options to the suite of choices at the end of 
life, is the trajectories of dying. There is a whole lot of literature about how you die. Do you want the 
quick death or the slow death? If you have the cancer death, we talk about this sort of sense of, at 
some stage, you get to a point where there is some reduction in your function and you can see a 
steady decline that is inevitably approaching death. 

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and heart failure are characterised by having 
exacerbations where you might die at any one of those terrible times, but you equally might be back 
to where you were before, and that has implications for how we resource and support those people. 
It is much more challenging, and that's one of the reasons why cancer is easier for palliative care to 
support. The other thing, I suppose, is that people change their mind. We have had many people 
change their mind about all sorts of things. 

Regarding VAD, specifically your terms talk about the Victorian legislation. I don't 
have any experience of the legislation and whether it is being used and how it works, but I would 
suggest that it looks to me one of the most restricted and controlled legislations that does exist. There 
is a very clear desire to put safeguards in, and it is quite distinct from the last legislation that came 
into the South Australian parliament. I met with the people who were promoting that legislation and 
that really had very few safeguards and very little understanding of what happens with vulnerable 
people, people facing the end of their lives, people who have great fear about what the future holds. 

I have certainly been at some public meetings where I am sure I have heard lots of 
dissatisfaction about the Victorian legislation, because of its narrowness and that it talks about very 
limited prognosis. It talks specifically about terminal illness. Terminal illness as a concept, or 
approaching death and prognosis, which are, I think, the words it uses, is one of the core skills that 
palliative care physicians talk about every day, and we are notoriously fairly bad at it. I have no doubt 
that my general practitioner and even oncology and heart specialist colleagues and general 
physicians are even worse than I am at much of that as well. 

That's where I see that since that legislation there has clearly been a lot of work done 
to try to make it as safe as it can be. A minority of jurisdictions in the world have this, but there is an 
increasing change in our society. I would say that within Australian society, probably 70 or higher per 
cent of people—the man in the street—when asked the general question, 'Would you like to have 
control over the time of your dying?' would say yes. 

Within medical circles, I would suggest that within the physicianly circles that I tend 
to meet it is less, but it is probably 50 or 60 per cent. Within palliative medicine, it traditionally has 
been very low, but it is changing. I think there is a change within the actual numbers. There have 
been studies done of palliative care physicians in Australia about their attitudes to euthanasia. 

There is a change, but the thing that interests me at medical meetings is that most 
of my medical colleagues assume that palliative medicine will be doing euthanasia. Half of them think 
we do it already. We don't do that already, or shouldn't be doing it already. I think there is some 
misunderstanding about what is euthanasia within even medical circles. There are many people who 
are maybe not as qualified or knowledgeable of the law and the way it is constructed and the 
language, who might label as euthanasia what is good medical practice. 

I am sure that happens behind closed doors already in our society. There are lots of 
terrible stories of suicides and things that go wrong when people are fearful and want to end their 
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lives. They are emotive. We would not want that, but it would be terrible if somebody chose to either 
try to end their life or end their life, or even access legislated voluntary assisted dying, if maybe they 
had wanted palliative care or didn't understand it. 

I sit on one of Palliative Care Australia's national advisory committees, and currently 
Palliative Care Australia doesn't take a neutral position. I would contradict my colleague. They 
currently do not see euthanasia as being part of the practice of palliative care; that's the current 
guideline. They are considering new statements. The Australian and New Zealand Society of 
Palliative Medicine, an organisation of doctors in Australia and New Zealand, mainly palliative care 
physicians, are reviewing their position statement at the moment as well. I have seen the AMA's 
position statement on euthanasia. They currently do not support euthanasia but then have a 
postamble, if you like, that talks about, if it was legislated, how it would be constructed. 

Palliative Care Australia has been spending a lot of time thinking about how they 
would align if voluntary assisted dying became legislated, particularly in sight of the Victorian 
legislation. They have run all sorts of groups. In fact, one of the facilitators was very pro-euthanasia 
but it was looking at how you would manage it. More recently, they have looked at what are the 
issues for palliative medicine and for palliative people at the end of life. 

They have come out with a series of guiding principles. Part of their decision-making 
in this was, having had a tour of Canada and the US to talk to people who were providers of medical 
assistance in dying and also palliative care physicians, some for and some against, they then invited 
and recently had a session with palliative care physicians from Canada coming out to Australia. 

They have done a lot of work in that space and come up with some guiding principles 
because, from what I have heard, there is a risk of some parts of the medical profession being 
marginalised or even vilified because they support or do not support euthanasia. The guiding 
principles are pretty obvious. They are around patient-centred, respectful behaviours and that 
nobody should be judged because they either ask or don't want euthanasia. 

There was a really strong sense of not abandoning people. I think that will be a 
challenge for how legislation might be embedded within palliative care services. There are stories of 
people of multidisciplinary teams, different team members, being quite traumatised by a patient 
accessing the end of their life voluntarily and actively. Much of what happens in many other countries 
happens at home. I suppose that makes it a safer place for those misunderstandings and for 
institutions that might have a religious or other objection to euthanasia. 

They talk about respectful behaviours between professionals. We know that doctors 
and nurses are not always respectful to each other and there is quite a culture of bullying. The guiding 
principles state that effective communication is part of quality care and that there should be ongoing 
knowledge, skills, confidence and competence to provide care for people's life-limiting illness, that 
we need to look after the people involved, those administering and giving euthanasia as well as those 
who are not, and that we need good evidence about practice. 

Within our current palliative care practice, I don't think we have good data about not 
only the people who receive it and the quality of the care, but we don't really have good data, I would 
suggest, within our health systems about how much money is spent and where it goes. Even Health 
Performance Council data that I have seen recently can't tell us anything about the care that palliative 
medicine physicians and teams actually provide in our hospices or palliative care units at the 
moment, which are the specialist units. They roll up every acute hospital patient all the same. So we 
need good data and good accounting. 

I think probably my final comment is that, if you introduce voluntary assisted dying, 
it will have significant change to the nature of palliative care practice. It will have a big change to 
medical practice. Currently, many of my patients ask me about wanting to end their lives. It's not like 
people will suggest, 'Go to palliative care. You are a self-selected group who don't want it. You want 
the slow dying.' I don't think people think that smartly when they get told they have cancer and terrible 
symptom control. Who do you go to? You need the palliative care physician. That's their skills. 

The talk about the what ifs and how the future might unfold—Do I have to have this 
treatment? Is this prolonging my life? Is this making my life shorter?'—are conversations that happen 
all the time. People ask about whether they can have their lives actively ended; more so it's families 
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asking about actively ending. Currently, in my practice, that sort of conversation is an opener to 
communicate about fears and future care, to make sure that we can try to construct care around 
people that will make them safe. 

If euthanasia is the next step, I suppose one concern is that the people who might 
be trained in this—my understanding is that the Victorian legislation has a six to eight-hour online 
training program for people who will participate in this program, and I haven't looked at it myself but 
I have been told that training is mainly around the legislation. It's nothing around palliative care, it's 
nothing around communication to people at the end of their lives. 

A vast amount of my work is helping people explore all those issues around the 
meaning of their lives, to make sure that they've got the best physical symptoms, and to try to make 
sure they understand, or their families understand, what dying is all about and what it looks like. We 
don't have systems that can put people by the bedside of people in their homes 24 hours a day in 
South Australia, to say, 'I've assessed your mother, I don't think she is suffering because of this, this 
and this,' but it doesn't look like the movies. 

It is something that our society is increasingly saying they want. It will have significant 
impact on medical practice and particularly on palliative medicine practice. Looking at some of the 
experiences in other parts of the world, Palliative Care Australia has—and I'm sure you have probably 
seen this—a final report they have made about various jurisdictions which seems to me quite 
balanced and evidence based. It shows that there is, whether you call it a risk, but a routinisation of 
euthanasia, that that is the way many people die. 

My understanding is that in Holland and Belgium probably 4 per cent of people die 
by euthanasia currently. In Oregon and Washington it is much lower than that, probably a factor of 
10. I don't know where the evidence was, but someone said to me recently that up to 10 per cent of 
oncology patients in Belgium die by euthanasia. So it's a significant shift to the profile of how cancer 
patients might die. They are things that will change our society in some regard as well. 

64  The CHAIRPERSON:  Thank you very much, professor, for your contribution. I have 
heard, in other forums, you express concerns about the adequacy and the funding for palliative— 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  I am becoming, yes, an irritant. 

65  The CHAIRPERSON:  From my experience, particularly a couple of personal 
experiences with Aboriginal people at the end of their life, I have been very, very impressed with the 
culturally respectful way palliative care has been administered. 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  My thesis is that if you get into specialist palliative care you 
usually get excellent care. We have a fabulous bunch of really dedicated, hardworking clinicians, 
doctors, nurses, social workers who bend over backwards to make sure people get the best care. 

66  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  Thank you, and thanks, too, for the reference to Palliative 
Care Australia's guiding principles because, as I said, they only came out last month. 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  Yes, that's right. 

67  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  I don't want to get into a debate about whether Palliative 
Care Australia's official position is neutral, or whatever it is— 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  I think it is changing, it's quite–— 

68  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  These guiding principles do include the one you mention, 
which I think is very important, that people exploring voluntary assisted dying will not be abandoned. 
But it then goes on to talk about how health professionals should be supported to explain when it 
may not be possible to provide care that matches an individual's preference and provide the 
opportunity to discuss alternative available options. 

It seems to me that that was basically an invitation to the palliative care profession 
to say, 'Look, we're going to do our best and this is what we can do, but it might not always work.' It 
seems to me that that is where you flip over from a palliative care model to the voluntary assisted 
dying. 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  What I think they are saying is—and it's a reality now—that if 
you come into one of our SA Health palliative care hospices or palliative care units, or even the 
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private Mary Potter, after 14 to 28 days somebody will say, 'You can't stay here anymore,' and you 
will need to go somewhere else. You either have to go home and we have to construct care around 
you, or you have to pay for it, or you go to a residential aged-care facility. That was my interpretation 
of that part of it. 

I suppose if euthanasia or voluntary assisted dying is a component, then the 
challenge is: are there mechanisms for whoever might provide that service to come in to the service? 
I didn't read it like that at all. I wasn't part of the development of them. However, there are many 
people who can't get what they want now and that is because it is a reality of life that our average 
length of stay in our palliative care units in SA Health is somewhere between nine to 14 days. They 
are short term and not everybody comes in and dies. We have a whole lot of people who are 
discharged again. 

69  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  I accept what you are saying, that there are different 
ways of interpreting those words— 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  Yes. 

70  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  —but one of the reasons I asked it was that obviously 
people in our position are looking to see what experts have said and people like yourself who have 
worked in this area for a long time. 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  Yes. 

71  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  I found something from I think your predecessor: was it 
Mary Brooksbank? 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  Yes, she was the previous chairman of Palliative Care SA. 

72  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  Yes, that's right. One of the articles that she wrote around 
this—I will use her words. She said: 

Although I understand that some people want that sense of control at the end of their lives, for me 
the time to have this debate is when everyone has access to good quality palliative care. 

To me, that said that the professions' plea to the community is, 'If only we were resourced properly, 
if only we had better facilities, better staff, less constraints on our work, no-one would want voluntary 
assisted dying because they could trust us to look after their end-of-life situation in the way that they 
want.' Have I misunderstood that? 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  Yes, you have, I think. Mary Brooksbank wrote that quite some 
time ago, I'm sure. 

73  The Hon. M.C. PARNELL:  In 2015. 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  Yes, but nonetheless the view currently—and I would support 
that not everybody can have excellent symptom control, nobody can be guaranteed freedom of pain; 
we can control a lot of symptoms, but suffering is a much greater framework. Suffering is a very 
personal and intense situation. The Victorian legislation doesn't talk about pain, it talks about 
suffering that is deemed by the person to be unacceptable, which is understandable. 

So, no, my understanding of where Palliative Care Australia is putting itself in its position is 
that nobody should be requesting voluntary assisted dying because they can't access good palliative 
care. They are equally saying, I would suggest, that palliative care shouldn't be the gatekeeper to 
euthanasia and physician-assisted suicide or voluntary assisted dying, because that's a tick box 
exercise that's futile and it won't work. 

It's a bit like insisting that you need a palliative care consultation and a psychiatric 
consultation before somebody might be eligible. All the current rhetoric from Palliative Care Australia 
is around saying, 'We should have properly constructed palliative care services,' but nobody is 
saying, 'You need that before you can do that.' 

They are two separate things and currently Palliative Care Australia is saying, 
'Voluntary assisted dying is not part of palliative care practice'—our society might change that view 
and it has in Belgium, very much so, but that's a matter for medical society and society in general to 
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come to. The current position is not saying we can fix it and if we can't fix it then you can go there—
it's quite the opposite. 

74  Mr DULUK:  You talked about if we had a VAD system it would change the 
relationship with physicians and obviously palliative care. Do you think it will diminish the role of 
palliative care in society and the treatment and perhaps ongoing reform if we had a VAD sitting 
alongside it? 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  It's really hard to fully assess the quality of a palliative care 
service. In the world, in recent publications, the United Kingdom comes in as being number one and 
Australia number two, and yet I can see many holes in the service that we provide. Sorry, what was 
the question? 

75  Mr DULUK:  Do you think it would— 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  Diminish it—yes, I think that is the risk. Within some parts of our 
society there would be a sense that it's unsafe, and that doctors will kill you, and coming to hospital 
will not be a safe place. That may be within some sections but not others, but I think there is enough 
misunderstanding about what I do as a palliative care physician. I try deliberately to not use the 
words, 'I'm trying to keep you very comfortable.' I try to say what I mean that I'm doing. 

If I am trying to improve your pain control or I am trying to treat the symptoms, if people want 
to be more sedated and it is with consent under our excellent legislation, then I say what I am doing. 
But, there were stories—and I am not sure how true they were—that many Indigenous people stayed 
away from public hospitals in the Northern Territory because they feared that they would be killed. 
There are certainly some reports in other jurisdictions where euthanasia is more routinised that there 
is a sense of, 'Why hasn't your husband accessed that yet? That's the way you die?' There would be 
a change, I think, in the value of medical practice that changes as our society is changing, and it 
would come to a new balance, I think. 

76  Mr DULUK:  More broadly, how do we expand community-based palliative care in 
South Australia, and what mechanisms do we need? What does it look like? 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  Palliative Care SA advocated for $24.5 million, and the new 
Liberal government gave us $4 million a year, but I would suggest that what is happening at the 
moment is that there is a desire to use that $4 million to fix the whole problem rather than just the 
specific part that we believe it was initially promised for. 

77  Mr DULUK:  So, under previous regimes how did it look? What was funded? 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  I think that palliative care service provision in South Australia 
has diminished over the last 15 years. When I first started working—and some of it is not government; 
some of it is policy and some is uncontrolled change that is outside of control of any one person—
we used to have palliative care services that had the same area of palliative care service, general 
practice divisions, community nursing. 

We shared meetings and had informal relationships so that we could actually have 
the relationship between the specialists, nurses, doctors and social workers in the area, and the 
generalist nurses. That has all been pulled apart. Some of it is around uncontrolled expense, some 
of it is about different organisations, private organisations, changing their boundaries, some of it is 
about needs for tendering, probity and contracts, when we only had one service that had all the skills 
and had a special area in it—all of those things. 

So, we advocated from Palliative Care SA that our coordinating community nurses, 
who currently work Monday to Friday, should be able to work seven days a week. Our doctors 
currently are available 24 hours a day, seven days a week, and provide a lot of coordination. Each 
of our current palliative care services probably get about 1,200 referrals a year and probably have 
about 350 to 400 families on their books at any one time, and provide advice and support. Some of 
those are in conjunction with their GPs and other physicians, but we need to have a much closer link 
with the community hands-on nursing and flexibility to build better teams. 

People talk about general practice. General practice is a changing beast, and they 
are the primary doctors often at deciding, diagnosing or coordinating, but GPs move around, more 
GPs work part-time, more GPs have special interests that might not be palliative care and end of life, 
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and they are frightened about being asked to do too many home visits because their lives are so 
busy with their consulting that that would upset a whole lot of other plans for patients. So, there are 
processes and systems, but it is very difficult to shift views about how things might be. 

78  Mr BASHAM:  In your statement you say you often get asked about assisted dying. 
At what stage are those people asking that? Is it right at the end? 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  It is usually much earlier. For the end-of-life families sitting by 
the bedside, somebody who, as far as I can tell, is dying within days, if not hours, and might be a 
little bit noisy with their breathing, or they are clearly not eating and drinking and having meaningful 
conversations, those families often find that really difficult, and sometimes portray that as, 'My loved 
one is suffering,' but they are suffering as well. My responsibility is to make sure that, as far as I can 
tell, that person isn't suffering and has an adequate system around them to make sure there aren't 
symptoms. 

But the delegation to Canada found, and what we often find, is people who were desperate 
to access medical assistance in dying almost the day before they were going to die a natural death 
because they wanted to have control and choice and say, 'This is making meaning in my life.' For 
some people, it's the destination, not the journey. I meet people who say, 'If I'm going to die let's just 
get on with it', and 'Why can't I?' 

But for most people it's earlier on. It's about a sense of being left in a terrible position 
of suffering, and suffering is often portrayed in terms of incontinence, bowels and bladder and 
personal care and those private bits that you don't want people to be involved with. 'I've been 
dependent,' so that you need to be fed or somebody is feeding you or washing you. I hear many 
people who are sick wanting to protect the people they love and not to be a burden. It's usually earlier 
on that most people are asking those questions. 

79  The CHAIRPERSON:  To follow on from what David was asking, from some of the 
stuff that I have seen and from personal experience, it seems that having the option sometimes can 
give some comfort. I think there are statistics—and I can't remember who mentioned it today—but in 
Oregon— 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  About 50 per cent, I think. It's quite high. 

80  The CHAIRPERSON:  Yes, it would be a minority of people who get a prescription 
and don't end up using it. Is there any evidence that just having the option can help with the anxiety, 
even if you don't use it? 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  We all like to have a get out of gaol card, I suppose. I heard you 
talking about consent and withdrawing treatment and all those sorts of things as well. For many of 
the people I see, it's knowing that there is a system that can provide the best symptom control, a 
sense of safety, and that there are processes, if what is happening around somebody is so 
distressing that they can't bear it, of sedating people. The Consent to Medical Treatment and 
Palliative Care Act has some clear guidelines about 'within accepted and proper medical practice'. 
There are processes to support people, but that won't satisfy everybody. What was the question 
again? 

81  The CHAIRPERSON:  Are you aware or is there evidence or is it possible that just 
having the choice can give people peace of mind? 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  I'm sure for some people having a choice is like having a loaded 
gun—you know you've got something to get you out of it—but there is a risk-benefit ratio in that. You 
need to make sure that you've got systems so that these very dangerous medications are not left in 
our society, that they are not at risk of people who are bereaved or distressed by what's happened 
to their loved ones. They may not be in agreement with what their loved one has done as well. I 
understand the Victorian legislation has a process so that somebody is charged with tracking that 
and bringing it back. We have so much trouble tracking our morphine and other drugs that we give 
to people that I would think that that's a reasonable concern about a risk-benefit ratio. 

82  The CHAIRPERSON:  I think you are right. I think there were further amendments, 
as the Victorian legislation passed through the parliament, to tighten that even further in terms of the 
problem of monitoring drugs afterwards. You mentioned the withdrawal of consent to medical 
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treatment. The Consent to Medical Treatment and Palliative Care Act was 1995 and that brought 
in—and I can't remember the exact words—something like 'must follow directions of patients who 
direct and not to continue life-sustaining measures'. 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  There was a misunderstanding. It sounded like doctors were 
obliged to offer every treatment to patients, and clearly that's not the case. Some would contest the 
ethical sort of moral intent of doctrine of double effect, that if your intention is this but the outcome is 
that, then that was morally acceptable. Some people would contest that, but it also is that a patient 
can consent not to do things. We all can say, 'I don't want that.' As long as you are competent and 
fully informed of the consequences of doing and not doing it, then you are allowed to do those things. 

83  The CHAIRPERSON:  Was that exactly the same before the legislation of 1995 or 
was that changed by the legislation? 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  I've got no knowledge of what happened before 1995—I might 
look old enough. I think that the consent to medical treatment act actually enshrined consent and 
made it very clear around the issues that doctors were obliged to talk to their patients about and 
explain what they were doing and what would happen if they didn't do it, that it was not acceptable 
to just be paternalistic and say 'Trust me, I'm a doctor,' or if there was something they should 
materially know, you should tell them about it or you should tell them why you are not going to offer 
some treatment as well. It made that much more explicit, was my understanding. 

84  The CHAIRPERSON:  In previous evidence, we heard about the part of the act that 
makes it clear that no criminal or civil liability is attached to a medical practitioner who is doing 
something to alleviate pain or distress, even if it has the consequence of hastening death. I know 
you are not that old, but are you aware of whether that was something new in that act back then, or 
has that always been the case in effect? 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  I think it formalised what was a grey area, an unclear or an 
unspoken area. At the time of that act and more recently, there are many jurisdictions in the world 
that have not had that clear. In my early palliative care life back in 1997 to 2000, I certainly heard 
stories from Japan where people might have been started on a ventilator but they had no process of 
withdrawing ventilation. You basically had to die of all the complications of whatever else was going 
on. Even in India, even now, there are places where I believe that is the case. The whole process of 
actually withdrawing treatment when there is a decision that there is no prospect of recovery—they 
don't have a process to navigate that. 

85  The CHAIRPERSON:  In your experience, do palliative care practitioners regularly 
find themselves in the position of having to decide those things and act on the wishes of their patients 
to alleviate the pain even if hastened death might be an outcome? 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  More recently, there has been literature to suggest that, in fact, 
opioids don't shorten life and even using opioids for breathlessness and respiratory failure doesn't 
shorten life. There is one paper—I am not so sure whether it needs repeating; it is one paper—
suggesting that palliative sedation doesn't even shorten life. To me, that seems counterintuitive. I 
would have thought that, if you sedate somebody to the point where they can't eat and drink, their 
life is likely to be shortened. But there is certainly research suggesting that opioids don't, by 
themselves, shorten people's lives. 

86  The CHAIRPERSON:  In your practice, can you remember a time when you 
administered a treatment to alleviate pain or distress that hastened someone's death? 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  I think that the WHO definition saying that we intend neither to 
prolong nor shorten life (whatever it is) is a bit simplistic and false. There are certain times when we 
drain pleural effusions to help breathing, but it probably prolongs people's lives. I feel quite 
comfortable that the law protects me as a palliative care provider if people have terrible pain and the 
only way of relieving it is to increase analgesia and sedation, with their consent. Most people want 
to have a clear mind and good symptom control. If that's not possible, if the only solution is to provide 
pain relief and sedation, then, yes, I am sure there are times when that treatment has shortened 
people's lives. 

I feel that is in the bounds of good medical practice. It is supported by that legislation, 
and I could justify it in a court of law. It's not like I have gone from a dose and increased it tenfold. 
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You increase it by acceptable, justifiable amounts, but enough for the patient. I am never frightened 
into keeping a dose small because I thought somebody might think that I was trying to kill somebody. 
I think the primary patient-centred view is that you need to provide the best symptom control you 
can, but you need consent in that, whether that is from the person or their clearly prescribed 
responsible adult or substitute decision-maker, as part of that information. 

87  Mr DULUK:  I have a final question. In your personal opinion, is the threshold test 
from the community of 'I don't want to be a burden on society' a legitimate threshold for the state to 
legalise VAD? 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  It's such a common thing, and I would say no. I am concerned 
about legalising VAD. I can't see myself actively being part of the provision of VAD but, equally, 
caring for people at the end of life, I really have an understanding of their vulnerabilities and I meet 
people who would want that, and there will be some people who would want it. 

Being a burden because, 'If I end my life faster, you can get back to work,' or, 'You 
can become more productive,' or, 'This won't cost as much money'—there might be an inheritance—
these are all things that I hear quite frequently. It's not always women, but women in particular—it 
seems to me the mother instinct is a very strong sort of driver as well. So I don't know how you would 
legislate to protect that. 

88  The CHAIRPERSON:  Just going on from that, is there any way to legislate to protect 
people in the same situation who feel that sense of duty that they should let others get on with life 
and who then ask to withdraw medical treatment? Can you do that? 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  No, I don't know how you would do that. What you are talking 
about is the challenge between legislation trying to be prescriptive and think about every option and 
the uncertainty of medical practice. There are some things that work better in the privacy of the home 
without legislation, but you need guidelines. We can't have doctors killing people without a 
framework. If we want to have people ending their lives actively, then you need a framework and a 
proper legislation. It would be true to say that the majority of the world doesn’t have that yet, but our 
society is changing. 

It is interesting to talk about religiosity and other religions. I was hearing about 
Buddhists and reincarnation. They say it's not an issue in most Asian countries because why would 
somebody end this suffering now? When you come back, you are going to have to do the same 
suffering again. I hadn't thought about that. I am working with a Muslim advanced trainee in palliative 
care at the moment. Talking to him about this, it is just not on the agenda. It would not be acceptable 
within those groups. 

So it's not just Christian groups. My experience is there are many quite devout 
Christian people, because they are the dominant people who identify with any religion, who have 
varied views on this position as well. It's not like if you are religious, you are anti-VAD. 

89  The CHAIRPERSON:  There being no further questions, thank you very much, 
professor. We appreciate your time today. You have helped inform the committee and I think, as you 
said, it's something that is changing around the world. I think it is very worthwhile to hear as much 
expert experience as we can as legislators when we consider these things. Thank you for being here 
today. 

Prof. CRAWFORD:  Thank you very much. 

THE WITNESS WITHDREW 


